1987

Utah v. James V. Crestani : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction of this appeal lies in the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78-2a-3(2)(e) in that this is an appeal from the District Court in a criminal case not involving a first or a capital degree felony.

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal of a criminal conviction of Defendant on four counts of theft and from the denial of a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did trial counsel's numerous failures of trial preparation and investigation fall below an objective standard of reasonableness and amount to constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel requiring a new trial where such failures included the following:

1. Failure to obtain and examine available material evidence critical to his clients main defense which deprived the Defendant of the use of exonerating evidence at trial.

2. A nearly complete failure to investigate potential factual defenses prior to trial.

3. Failure to examine all of the relevant and material evidence held by the prosecution when the prosecution several times offered to allow such examination prior to trial.

4. Failure properly to prepare himself and his witnesses for trial.

5. Failure to produce a key witness and to elicit crucial testimony at trial.

Is there a reasonable probability that, but for the counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the trial would have been different?

Was the trial Courts inclusion, without a cautionary instruction in its charge to the jury of a civil statute admitted into evidence forbidding acts with which the Defendant was not charged, prejudicial error requiring a new trial?

Was instruction No. 25 to the Jury so misleading and confusing as to amount to prejudicial error requiring a new trial?

Did the trial court err in failing to instruct the jury with regard to specific intent?

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

U.S. Const. Amend. VI

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to have the assistance of counsel for his defense.

U.S. CONST. AMEND. XIV

. . . nor shall any state deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law

Utah Const. Art. I, §12

In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person and by counsel

Utah Const. Art. I, §7

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a conviction on four counts of second degree felony theft, from the judgment entered pursuant to that conviction and from the denial of Defendant-Appellant's Motion for a New Trial.

This case was initiated by information filed March 14, 1985 charging five counts of second degree felony theft.

The preliminary hearing was held May 8, 1985 at which hearing Count 5 of the information was dismissed (Record at 4, 5).

The Defendant was arraigned on June 6, 1985 (R at 27). From the arraignment in June of 1985 to trial in July of 1987 trial dates were set and vacated four times. This trial was set to be heard on September 25, 1985 (R at 27), February 19, 1986 (R at 37), June 4, 1986 (R at 38), April 7, 1987 (R at 46), and July 7, 1987 (R at 57).

Trial was held during the four days July 7 through July 11, 1987 with the jury returning verdicts of guilty on all four remaining counts. (R at 80-84)

Defendant's motion for a new trial was filed October 23, 1987, immediately after he was committed to prison. The trial court denied Mr. Crestani's Motion for New Trial on November 23, 1987 (R at 5, T. Nov. 23, p. 3).

The notice of appeal was filed thereafter on November 23, 1987. (R at 224-230, T. Nov 23, p. 7).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Over the years the Defendant, James Crestani, worked his way up in the organization of Alta Title Company in Salt Lake City, Utah until by 1980 he had acquired 100% of the stock of that corporation. (T. Vol. IV to p.p. 502, 503)

2. On February 10, 1982 Alta Title Company opened a bank checking account at Sandy State Bank, Sandy, Utah, which account was known as MMD-2 (Exhibit 17-P).

3. MMD-2 was one of several accounts used by Alta Title Company. It was in existence for approximately 13 months until March of 1983 when Alta Title ceased doing business. (Defendant Exhibit 1-d, p. 4).

4. MMD-2 was an active commercial banking account which during 1982 experienced hundreds of deposits and disbursements amounting to millions of dollars in transactions in some months. (Exhibits 11P, 17P, 18P, 20P, 21P, 22P, 23P, 24P, T. Vol. II p. 158-161)

5. Although opened as a commercial account in the name of Alta Title the account was initially opened with a \$10,000.00 deposit from the personal funds of Defendant Crestani (T. Vol. III p. 412) and during the life of the account numerous other deposits of funds owned by or due to Defendant Crestani were made into MMD-2. (T. Vol. III, p.p. 410-412, 416, 417, T. Vol. IV, p. 508, 509, Defendant's Exhibit 1-d).

6. In March of 1985 James Crestani was charged in a five count information with theft of monies from the MMD-2 account. (R at 21-23) (A fifth count involving another account was later dismissed. R at 7)

7. The gist of the charges contained in the information was that on four occasions in 1982 (on May 7, May 18, June 11 and August 13) the Defendant had withdrawn amounts from the MMD-2 account and used the money for his own personal benefit. It was further implied in the Probable Cause Statement appended to the information that this conduct constituted theft because MMD-2 was an account used exclusively for funds held in escrow for real estate closings and therefore, by the very fact of withdrawal, the Defendant had stolen escrow monies. (R at 23)

8. Shortly after the information was filed in this matter Defendant Crestani approached Mr. Phil L. Hansen, Attorney, ("trial counsel") and requested trial counsel to represent him in this case. Trial counsel agreed to do so for a flat fee of \$50,000.00. Trial counsel agreed to accept a cash downpayment toward the fee with the rest payable over time secured by a note and a pledge of personal property to be held by trial counsel. (Affidavit of James V. Crestani, R at 284, 285)

9. In his initial conversations with trial counsel, Mr. Crestani told trial counsel that his defense to the charges was that the money withdrawn from MMD-2 was personal money belonging to Mr. Crestani. (Affidavit of James V. Crestani, R at 285).

10. Mr. Crestani described to trial counsel the large amount of preparation and auditing of the MMD-2 account that Mr. Crestani felt was necessary to prepare this case for trial. trial counsel assured Mr. Crestani that he would do a thorough and more than adequate job and that for the stated fee trial counsel would identify and interrogate all witnesses, thoroughly review all bank accounts involved including all relevant deposits and withdrawals. Trial counsel assured Mr. Crestani that he would travel to California to prepare Mr. Crestani and his wife for their testimony at trial and would hire paralegals to prepare witnesses and exhibits, thoroughly research the case law and perform all other efforts necessary to prepare the case for trial properly and adequately. (Affidavit of James V. Crestani, R at 285)

11. After he was hired by Mr. Crestani, trial counsel was approached by one James A. McIntyre, an attorney who had previously represented Mr. Crestani and Alta Title Company. Mr. McIntyre related to trial counsel his opinion that a proper defense to the charges leveled against Mr. Crestani absolutely required a thorough review and audit of all available records pertaining to deposits and withdrawals of Mr. Crestani's personal funds into and out of MMD-2. (Affidavit of James A. McIntyre, R at 298)

12. Mr. McIntyre further offered his services and those of Mr. Gary Carlson, a former vice president of Alta Title, to

assist trial counsel in searching for and reviewing all of the MMD-2 records including all deposits and withdrawals. (McIntyre Affidavit, R at 298)

13. Trial counsel acknowledged Mr. McIntyre's offer but neither at that time nor at any time prior to trial did he use the offered services of Mr. McIntyre or Mr. Carlson. (McIntyre Affidavit, R at 298, Affidavit of Gary Carlson, R at 206, 207)

14. Approximately two months after the information was filed, a preliminary hearing was held. (R at 4)

15. At the preliminary hearing the Defendant Crestani was bound over on four counts of felony theft. (R at 5) Trial counsel called no witnesses at the preliminary hearing. (R at 4, 5)

16. Between the preliminary hearing in May of 1985 and the trial two years later in June of 1987, the Defendant Crestani and his wife attempted on numerous occasions to contact trial counsel by telephone or letter regarding this case. All such attempts were unsuccessful and Mr. Crestani was unable to either speak with trial counsel or get him to return written correspondence or telephone calls. (James V. Crestani Affidavit, R at 285, Supplemental Affidavit of James V. Crestani, R at 259, 260)

17. This case was originally set for trial on September 25, 1985, (R at 27) thereafter it was continued four times. (R at 27, 38, 46, 57)

18. For the trial setting February 19, 1986, counsel appeared for pre-trial two weeks prior thereto on February 4, 1986. (R at 38) At that time trial counsel had not obtained the MMD-2 records from Sandy State Bank.

19. On March 16, 1987, trial counsel prepared and served on the prosecutor a demand for discovery. (R at 50, 51) Included in the demand was a request for "an itemization of all physical evidence, including a list of all exhibits the prosecution intends to introduce at the time of trial." (R at 50, 51)

20. Also on March 16, 1987 trial counsel had prepared and served upon Sandy State Bank a subpoena requesting production of certain MMD-2 records (R at 52, 53) and a notice of records deposition. (R at 54, 56) These records were not delivered at the appointed time because trial counsel failed to pay the copying charges requested by the bank. (Affidavit of Shirlene Ivory, R at 274)

21. For the trial setting of April 7, 1987, trial counsel prepared and filed with the court a Motion, Stipulation and Order of Continuance on March 31, 1987, one week prior to trial. (R at 58-60) At that time trial counsel had not obtained the records of the MMD-2 account. (Affidavit of Shirlene Ivory, R at 274)

22. The pretrial preparation of Mr. Crestani's defense prior to trial was primarily undertaken by a paralegal working in trial counsel's office. (Affidavit of Shirlene Ivory, R at 272-276) All contacts with Mr. Crestani prior to the day before

trial were through this paralegal or trial counsel's secretary. (Supplemental Affidavit of James V. Crestani, R at 260). Defendant Crestani several times told the paralegal that the MMD-2 records would be important to his defense (Ivory Affidavit, R at 272). The paralegal assured Mr. Crestani that trial counsel would obtain the MMD-2 records. (Id.)

23. Five weeks prior to trial, the paralegal attempted to pull the office file for trial counsel to assist him in pre-trial preparation. Apparently, however, trial counsel was out of the office for long periods of time in the weeks preceding trial and apparently trial counsel did not review the case file till two days before the trial began. (Affidavit of Shirlene Ivory, R at 271). Defendant Crestani told the paralegal he was very concerned that trial counsel was not prepared to go to trial and that they should request a continuance. (Id. R at 274, 275). When the paralegal relayed Mr. Crestani's concerns, trial counsel assured the paralegal that he was prepared. (Id. R at 275).

24. Some weeks before trial, the paralegal attempted to collect the bank records previously subpoenaed by trial counsel. (Ivory Affidavit, R at 274) However, the bank records had not been paid for and had subsequently been lost. (Ivory Affidavit, R at 274) The paralegal reordered the records that had previously been subpoenaed and these records were picked up two days prior to the beginning of the trial. (Id.)

25. The MMD-2 account records subpoenaed by trial counsel included only deposit items into that account for March, April, May and June of 1982. Trial counsel did not request monthly statements, checks or disbursement items, or credit and debit memos. Trial counsel did not subpoena any records at all for the months of July and August, 1982, which encompassed count four of the information. (R at 52, 54, 55)

26. Trial Counsel apparently began his preparation of the witnesses that he would later call at trial only two days prior to the day the trial was to begin. He first contacted defense witness Gary Carlson two days before trial. (Affidavit of Gary Carlson, R at 205) He first contacted defense witness James McIntyre the day before trial at which time trial counsel was apparently preparing for a portion of the case that had been dismissed at preliminary hearing. (Affidavit of James A. McIntyre, R at 298)

27. Trial counsel received, both directly and through his paralegal, offers from the prosecutor to examine the documentary evidence held by the state prior to trial. (Affidavit of Shirlene Ivory, R at 273, T. Vol. III, p. 443)

28. On at least two occasions prior to trial the prosecutor offered to make available to trial counsel all of the documentary evidence that the prosecution had developed for trial. Further, the prosecutor offered to go over the documents with trial counsel and provide an investigator familiar with the case to go through them with him. (T. Vol. III, p. 443)

29. Trial counsel never took the prosecutor up on these offers and, in the two years between preliminary hearing and trial, never reviewed the state's evidence including many of the account records of MMD-2. (Trans. Vol. IV p. 443, T. Vol, 12 and 17, p. 42)

30. On the evening before trial, trial counsel finally met with Defendant Crestani and his wife. (Supplemental Affidavit of James V. Crestani, R at 259, 260) At that time Mr. Crestani observed that trial counsel had only obtained deposit items for a four month period from the MMD-2 account. He asked trial counsel where the rest of the account records were. Trial counsel responded, "That's all we need. They don't have a case." (Id. at 260)

31. That same night Defendant Crestani asked trial counsel why he had not secured the attendance of Blake Hammond, a former vice-president of Alta Title Company relocated to Phoenix, Arizona, whom Mr. Crestani had felt was an important witness. Mr. Hammond resided in Phoenix, Arizona. Trial counsel admitted that he had not subpoenaed Blake Hammond but told Mr. Crestani that in trial counsel's opinion they did not need Mr. Hammond for the case. (Supp. Affidavit of James V. Crestani, R at 261) Mr. Hammond was never contacted by trial counsel, was never informed about the trial date and did not appear at the trial. (Affidavit of Blake Hammond. R at 202)

32. Prior to trial, the Defendant's wife Vickie R. Crestani was not told by trial counsel that she would be a witness notwithstanding the fact that she had been the Escrow Department Manager at Alta Title Company in 1982 and had been in charge of some deposits made into MMD-2. (T. Vol. III p. 408, Record Affidavit of Vickie Crestani R at 308)

33. In his opening statement at trial, made after the State's case, trial counsel outlined his case for the defense. Trial counsel relied heavily on the fact that he would show that Defendant Crestani had personal money in MMD-2 sufficient to cover the withdrawals that were charged in the information. (T. Vol. III, p. 312-315, 320-322, 326)

34. At trial, trial counsel called attorney James A. McIntyre as a witness for the defense. (T. Vol. III, p. 340)

35. Trial counsel attempted to establish through the testimony of Mr. McIntyre several deposits of Mr. Crestani's personal funds into MMD-2. (T. Vol. III at 346-349) Mr. McIntyre was unable to recall several of the transactions and others he could recall generally but could not specify dates or exact amounts. (Id.) Trial counsel did not provide Mr. McIntyre with any documents of deposit to substantiate his testimony or refresh his recollection. (T. Vol. III, p. 346-350)

36. At trial, trial counsel called Vickie R. Crestani, wife of the Defendant and former Escrow Department Manager for Alta Title Company. (T. Vol. III, p. 408)

37. Trial counsel attempted to have Mrs. Crestani verify deposits of Jim Crestani's personal funds into MMD-2 during 1982 from her own memory without reference to specific records. (T. Vol. III, p. 411, 412 and 419-421)

38. On cross-examination the Prosecutor pointed out that Mrs. Crestani was testifying only from memory and that she had had many years to locate the records of the deposits that she had testified about on direct examination. (T. Vol. III, p. 425)

39. Trial counsel also had Mrs. Crestani identify specific deposit item records representing personal funds deposited into MMD-2 for Defendant Crestani. (T. Vol. III, p. 409, 414, 416)

40. On further cross-examination, the Prosecutor confronted Mrs. Crestani with records showing that the deposits she had testified to on direct examination were immediately withdrawn from MMD-2 and thus not available to cover the charged withdrawals. (T. Vol. III, p. 436-439)

41. Trial counsel objected to cross-examination of Mrs. Crestani using bank records of disbursements on the ground that he had not previously seen or been given an opportunity to examine those documents. (T. Vol. III, pp. 441-449) The prosecution responded that trial counsel had indeed been offered the opportunity to examine all the state's evidence. (Id.)

42. After trial counsel's objection on Thursday night, the court recessed for the evening and instructed trial counsel and the Prosecutor to go over the bank records that the Prosecutor

intended to use to cross-examine Mrs. Crestani. (T. Vol. III, p. 449) Trial counsel admitted that he had never seen these particular documents before. (T. Vol. III, p. 452)

43. On further cross-examination the next day the Prosecutor was able to establish from documentary evidence that Mrs. Crestani withdrew a previously described \$15,000.00 deposit on the same day that it was deposited into MMD-2. (T. Vol. IV, pp. 470, 471) Mrs. Crestani, because she had not reviewed any bank documents except some deposit items subpoenaed by trial counsel, was surprised and did not recall the immediate withdrawal of the \$15,000.00 until the Prosecutor showed her the disbursement item on the last day of trial. (T. Vol. IV, p. 472)

44. On further cross-examination the Prosecutor was able to show that another deposit, described by Mr. Crestani as personal funds of the Defendant, in the amount of \$19,896.73 was likewise withdrawn on the same day. (T. Vol. IV, pp. 474-477)

45. On further cross-examination of Mrs. Crestani, the Prosecutor was able to establish that many of the \$50.00 agent fees that the defense claimed were personal funds of Mr. Crestani were withdrawn from the MMD-2 account and paid to the Alta Title General account. (T. Vol. IV, pp. 480-484)

46. In his closing argument the prosecutor told the jury that the Crestanis knew that the deposits they testified about on direct examination were immediately withdrawn and the Defendant and his wife were merely trying "to pull the wool over [the jury's] eyes". (T. Vol IV, p. 571)

47. At trial, trial counsel called the Defendant Crestani as a witness. (T. Vol. IV, p. 500)

48. Trial counsel attempted to show with the testimony of Mr. Crestani that he had personal funds in MMD-2 at various times. However, except for small deposits, from his personal account, Mr. Crestani was only able to testify from memory because no documents were provided to establish exact deposits. (T. Vol. IV, p. 510)

49. At trial the court, hearing no objection from Defendant's counsel, allowed the prosecutor to question witnesses about the co-mingling of personal and escrow funds in MMD-2 by Defendant Crestani. (T. Vol III, p. 361, T. Vol IV, p. 524)

50. In his closing argument the Prosecutor pointedly referred to the text of the statute prohibiting the co-mingling of escrow funds which had been offered by trial counsel and received in evidence by the court. (T. Vol IV, pp. 553-574) Defendant Crestani was not charged with any specific offense involving co-mingling of funds.

51. At trial the Prosecutor elicited, without objection, testimony from several witnesses that Defendant Crestani had obtained or paid to Alta Title Co. the interest earned on escrow funds deposited into MMD-2 over to Alta Title. (T. Vol III, p. 479, T. Vol. IV, p. 526) Defendant Crestani was not charged with theft of interest monies.

52. Mr. Crestani was convicted of all four counts of second degree felony theft. He was sentenced and committed to prison on October 23, 1987. (R at 191)

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