1987

Utah v. James V. Crestani : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant fails to establish, under the Strickland test, that trial counsels' preparation and representation fell below the standard of objective reasonableness guaranteed by the United States and Utah Constitutions. Defendant's claim of prejudice is purely speculative and is thus insufficient under the Strickland test. Because trial counsel's claimed ineffectiveness can be considered sound trial strategy, defendant's ineffective claim must fail.

Trial counsel's offering of a civil statute into evidence was trial strategy consistent with the defense asserted by counsel. Therefore, trial counsel's tactical decision cannot be grounds for ineffectiveness.

Considering the jury instructions as a whole, Instruction No's. 16 and 25 were not misleading or prejudicial, but rather, were helpful to the jury in determining whether defendant was authorized to withdraw escrow funds for personal use. Under the circumstances, Instruction No. 25 was not confusing or misleading to the extent that the jury disregarded their duty to find each and every element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt.

The trial court properly instructed the jury on the required culpable mental state of the offense of theft and therefore did not err in refusing to give defendant's proffered "specific intent" instruction.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

DEFENDANT WAS NOT DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE
OF COUNSEL AS GUARANTEED BY THE UTAH AND THE
UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS.

Defendant argues that defendant was denied effective assistance of counsel at trial because defense counsel failed to obtain and examine all available evidence critical to his defense.⁴

In order to establish ineffective assistance of counsel "it is the defendant's burden to show: (1) that this counsel rendered a deficient performance in some demonstrable manner, and (2) that the outcome of the trial would probably have been different but for counsel's error." State v. Geary, 707 P.2d 645, 646 (Utah 1985); see also Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); State v. Lairby, 699 P.2d 1187, 1203-04 (Utah 1984), overruled on other grounds, 739 P.2d 628, 631 (Utah 1987) (adopting Strickland test). Failure to show either deficient performance or resulting prejudice will defeat a claim of ineffective counsel. State v. Geary, 707 P.2d at 646.

In Strickland, the United States Supreme Court discuss the various aspects of the test in order to assist courts in

⁴ Although defendant does not cite to any constitutional provisions in the argument portion of his brief, the State assumes that defendant asserts a violation of the United States Constitution Amendments VI and XIV, and Utah Constitution Article I §§ 7 and 12, based upon defendant's "Determinative Constitutional Provisions" section of his brief (Br. of App. at 2).

applying the test to cases.

When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.

The proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.

Representation of a criminal defendant entails certain basic duties. Counsel's function is to assist the defendant, and hence counsel owes the client a duty of loyalty, a duty to avoid conflicts of interest. . . . From counsel's function as assistant to the defendant derive the overarching duty to advocate the defendant's cause and the more particular duties to consult with the defendant on important decisions and to keep the defendant informed of important developments in the course of the prosecution. Counsel also has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process. . . .

In any case presenting an ineffectiveness claim, the performance inquiry must be whether counsel's assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances. . . . The purpose is simply to ensure that criminal defendants receive a fair trial.

Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. It is all too tempting for a defendant to second guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. . . . A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls

within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance; that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action "might be considered sound trial strategy." . . . There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way. . . .

The availability of intrusive post-trial inquiry into attorney performance or of detailed guidelines for its evaluation would encourage the proliferation of ineffectiveness challenges. Criminal trials resolved unfavorably to the defendant would increasingly come to be followed by a second trial, this one of counsel's unsuccessful defense. . . .

Thus, a court deciding an actual ineffectiveness claim must judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct. A convicted defendant making a claim of ineffective assistance must identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of reasonable professional judgment. The court must then determine whether, in light of all the circumstances, the identified acts or omissions were outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance. In making that determination, the court should keep in mind that counsel's function, as elaborated in prevailing professional norms, is to make the adversarial testing process work in the particular case. At the same time, the court should recognize that counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.

. . . .

An error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment. . . .

. . . .

Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another. Even if a defendant shows that particular errors of counsel were unreasonable, therefore, the defendant must show that they actually had an adverse effect on the defense.

It is not enough for the defendant to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding. . . .

. . . .

The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.

. . . .

When a defendant challenges a conviction, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt. . . .

Moreover, a verdict or conclusion only weakly supported by the record is more likely to have been affected by errors than one with overwhelming record support. . . .

In every case the court should be concerned with whether, despite the strong presumption of reliability, the result of the particular proceeding is unreliable because of a breakdown in the adversarial process that our system counts on to produce just results.

466 U.S. at 687-96 (citations omitted).

The Utah Supreme Court most recently reiterated its adoption of the Strickland test in State v. Archuleta, 747 P.2d 1019 (Utah 1987):

Before this Court will consider whether specific conduct falls below the required standard of objective reasonableness, the person arguing ineffective assistance must show that the conduct prejudiced his case. [Strickland, 466 U.S.] at 697, 104 S.Ct. at 2069; see also State v. Frame, 723 P.2d 401, 405 (Utah 1986). In order to prove prejudice to his case, "defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 1028. . . .

Archuleta, 747 P.2d at 1023.

Defendant, in Point I of his brief, asserts that his trial counsel was ineffective for two reasons. First, he failed to adequately investigate Alta Title's bank records and as a result both he and his witnesses were unprepared for trial. Second, trial counsel failed to call a key witness for the defense.

Regarding the first claim, defendant asserts that because trial counsel failed to obtain and examine all of Alta Title's bank records, he was unaware of facts that may have provided a complete defense to Count IV of the Information. Defendant cites to an examination report of Alta Title's bank records performed after trial by Leland Martineau, C.P.A.

At the hearing on defendant's Motion for New Trial, Martineau testified that personal money of defendant was available in MMD-2 that would have covered the last withdrawal of \$16,500 (Count IV) (T. 510, p. 28-30). The basis of the "newly discovered" funds was an alleged repayment of a personal loan (R. 510, p. 29-30). Apparently, defendant loaned \$24,000 to a Mr.

Ray Fry. Id. The repayment of the loan, plus interest, totalled \$24,622.50 which was deposited in MMD-2. Id. On cross-examination, however, Martineau admitted that he did not know whether the source of the loan was from defendant's personal money or not (R. 510, p. 32). Hence, the loan repayment deposit may or may not have been personal funds.

It is well-established that proof of inadequate representation "' . . . must be a demonstrable reality and not a speculative matter.'" Codianna v. Morris, 660 P.2d 1101, 1109 (Utah 1983) (quoting State v. McNicol, 554 P.2d 203, 204 (Utah 1976)). Because defendant's claim is based upon speculation, defendant has failed to meet his burden of proof, which is, "but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Archuleta, 747 P.2d at 1023. Simply, there is no evidence that due to trial counsel's alleged failure to review all of the bank records, defendant's cause was prejudiced.

In an effort to show that he lacked the requisite intent, defendant argues that he made some deposits into MMD-2 which were withdrawn prior to the withdrawals charged in the Information and that "the CPA found evidence that [defendant] may not have known of all of [the] withdrawals." (Br. of App. at 27) (emphasis added). Additionally, defendant claims that other money was deposited in MMD-2 which may or may not have been withdrawn and he asserts that he "may have reasonably believed that that money was available to cover [the] withdrawals" (Br. of App. at 27) (emphasis added).

Again, defendant offers nothing but mere speculation that he may have believed money was available to cover the personal withdrawals from MMD-2. This speculation is the basis of defendant's claim that his trial counsel was ineffective. Defendant's mere speculation is a far cry from "affirmatively show[ing] that a 'reasonable probability' exists that, but for counsel's error, the result would have been different." State v. Frame, 723 P.2d 401, 405 (Utah 1986).

Defendant also asserts that if trial counsel had reviewed Alta Title's bank records, trial counsel could have used the records to refresh the memory of the defendant and his wife. Defendant then speculates that if that had been done, "they would likely not have been made out to look like liars in front of the jury" (Br. of App. at 32) (emphasis added).

In his attempt to establish prejudice, defendant merely asserts that, maybe, the jury would have viewed his and his wife's testimony more favorably had their memory been more completely refreshed. Again, defendant fails to establish a "demonstrable reality" rather than a "speculative matter" as required in Codianna v. Morris, 660 P.2d at 1109.

In Commonwealth v. Sellon, 402 N.E.2d 1329 (Mass. 1980), the Massachusetts Supreme Court stated:

Moreover, even if trial counsel wholly failed to prepare his witnesses, Sellon has failed to demonstrate any "issue of fact or law that [as a result] could have been but was not exploited by counsel for the defendant's benefit in the original proceedings." . . . Even if a defendant demonstrates a deficiency in pretrial preparation, "the defendant [can] make no headway in the absence of a showing that the

fault probably resulted in forfeiture of a substantial defense."

Sellon, 402 N.E.2d at 1335-36 (citations omitted). In the present case, defendant does not assert he lost a substantial defense nor that "any issue of law or fact could have but was not exploited by counsel for the defendant's benefit." Id. (See also, State v. Watson, 120 Ariz. 441, 586 P.2d 1253 (1978); Commonwealth v. Jones, 15 Mass. App. 692, 448 N.E.2d 400 (1983); State v. Long, 726 P.2d 1364 (Mont. 1986). Clearly, trial counsel's defense strategy was that defendant's personal money was available in the MMD-2 account and that defendant therefore, did not intend to deprive others of their money. Therefore, defendant's present claim of ineffectiveness can be disposed of as sound trial strategy which cannot be grounds for reversal. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694-95.

Finally, defendant asserts that trial counsel failed to call a key witness who would have possibly discredited the prosecutions accountant witness. In Commonwealth v. Rondeau, 392 N.E.2d 1001 (Mass. 1979), the Massachusetts Supreme Court said, "[i]neffectiveness is not established simply by showing that [counsel] failed to call an additional witness . . . to bolster the defense case." Rondeau, 392 N.E.2d at 1004. The Utah Supreme Court said, "[t]he calling of witnesses is a matter of judgment on the part of a lawyer." Batchelor v. Smith, 555 P.2d 871, 872 (Utah 1976). Defendant fails to assert in his brief how the testimony of Blake Hammond would discredit the State's witness or how he was prejudiced by the absence of the testimony. Therefore, defendant has failed to establish prejudice resulting

from any alleged ineffectiveness in trial counsel's decision to not call Hammond as a witness.

As noted earlier, the United States Supreme Court in Strickland said that the proper standard for attorney performance is that of reasonably effective assistance, considering all the circumstances. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. The Utah Supreme Court has further stated that a defendant:

is entitled to the assistance of a competent member of the bar, who shows a willingness to identify himself with the interests of the accused and present such defenses as are available under the law and consistent with the ethics of the profession.

State v. McNicol, 554 P.2d 203, 204 (1976) (footnote omitted).

In People v. McGautha, 452 P.2d 650, 76 Cal.Rptr. 434 (1969), aff'd, 402 U.S. 183 (1971), the court stated, "in inquiry whether defendant received his constitutional right to 'effective aid in the preparation and trial of the case' . . . we do not attempt to measure such elusive qualities as the vigor of a defense counsel's efforts." McGautha, 452 P.2d at 659 (citation omitted). "The purpose of the inquiry is simply to insure that defendant receives a fair trial." Frame, 723 P.2d at 405. Defendant must show that the "adversarial process of the trial was so undermined that the jury could not have produced a just result." Id.

In the present case, there is no question that trial counsel is "a competent member of the bar." Id. He has been a member of the bar since 1950, a former Utah Attorney General, a seasoned criminal defense attorney, and a former municipal judge in the Murray City court (R. 327). There is also no question

that trial counsel showed a willingness to identify himself with the interests of defendant and presented such defenses as were available.

In State v. Neal, the Arizona Supreme Court stated:

[Defendant's] attorney made pretrial motions, called witnesses in the defendant's behalf, and adequately cross-examined the State's witnesses. [Defendant's] representation did not reach the level where he was denied effective assistance of counsel.

State v. Neal, 143 Ariz. 93, 692 P.2d 272, 280 (1984). Here, trial counsel gave vigorous cross-examination to the state's witnesses (T. 58, 99, 123, 133, 163, 252, 271, 277, 297, 306, 308, 396), made numerous objections throughout the trial (T. 46, 71, 97, 141-42, 276, 295, 336, 403, 480, 485),⁵ and made strong arguments concerning the admissibility of evidence outside the presence of the jury (T. 47, 86, 204, 380, 440, 452, 455, 543). In evaluating trial counsel's effectiveness, the trial court observed as follows:

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